Regenerative Therapy 26 (2024) 219-234

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

**Regenerative Therapy** 

journal homepage: http://www.elsevier.com/locate/reth

# Review

# Generation of *in vivo*-like multicellular liver organoids by mimicking developmental processes: A review



Division of Regenerative Medicine, Center for Stem Cell Biology and Regenerative Medicine, The Institute of Medical Science, The University of Tokyo, 4-6-1 Shirokanedai, Minato-ku, Tokyo 108-0071, Japan

# ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 1 May 2024 Received in revised form 24 May 2024 Accepted 30 May 2024

Keywords: Liver organogenesis Organoid Three dimensional tissue structure Hepatobiliary connection Bile duct Bile canaliculi Disease modeling

#### ABSTRACT

Liver is involved in metabolic reactions, ammonia detoxification, and immunity. Multicellular liver tissue cultures are more desirable for drug screening, disease modeling, and researching transplantation therapy, than hepatocytes monocultures. Hepatocytes monocultures are not stable for long. Further, hepatocyte-like cells induced from pluripotent stem cells and *in vivo* hepatocytes are functionally dissimilar. Organoid technology circumvents these issues by generating functional *ex vivo* liver tissue from intrinsic liver progenitor cells and extrinsic stem cells, including pluripotent stem cells. To function as *in vivo* liver tissue, the liver organoid cells must be arranged precisely in the 3-dimensional space, closely mimicking *in vivo* liver tissue. Moreover, for long term functioning, liver organoids must be appropriately vascularized and in contact with neighboring epithelial tissues (e.g., bile canaliculi and intrahepatic bile duct, or intrahepatic and extrahepatic bile ducts). Recent discoveries in liver developmental biology allows one to successfully induce liver component cells and generate organoids. Thus, here, in this review, we summarize the current state of knowledge on liver development with a focus on its application in generating different liver organoids. We also cover the future prospects in creating (functionally and structurally) *in vivo*-like liver organoids using the current knowledge on liver development.

© 2024, The Japanese Society for Regenerative Medicine. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/ 4.0/).

# Contents

1.	Introduction			. 220
2.	2. Liver organogenesis			. 220
	2.1.	Early d	evelopment of hepatobiliary organs	. 220
		2.1.1.	Liver bud formation and growth	. 220
		2.1.2.	Extrahepatic biliary development	. 220
	2.2.	Hepatio	tissue structure formation	. 221
		2.2.1.	Bile canaliculi (BC) network formation	. 221
		2.2.2.	Bile duct development	. 222
		2.2.3.	Liver vasculature formation	. 225
3.	Liver	tissue re	constitution in vitro	. 226
3.1. L <sup>i</sup>		Liver or	ganoid containing a single type of cell (hepatocyte organoid, cholangiocyte organoid)	. 227
		3.1.1.	Hepatocyte organoid	. 227
		3.1.2.	Cholangiocyte organoid	. 227
	3.2.	Hepato	-biliary organoid	. 227

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reth.2024.05.020







*Abbreviations:* hiPSC, Human induced pluripotent stem cell; BD, Bile Duct; PV, Portal Vein; JAG1, Jagged1; SM22, smooth muscle protein 22; aSMA, a-smooth muscle actin; IHBD, intrahepatic bile duct; OPN, Osteopontin; CK19, cytokeratin 19; qPCR, quantitative PCR; RNA-seq, RNA sequencing; ECM, extracellular matrix; 3D, three-dimensional; HE, hepatic endoderm cells; CFTR, Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Conductance Regulator; GO, Gene ontology; EHBD, extrahepatic bile duct.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author.

E-mail address: tanimizu@g.ecc.u-tokyo.ac.jp (N. Tanimizu).

Peer review under responsibility of the Japanese Society for Regenerative Medicine.

<sup>2352-3204/© 2024,</sup> The Japanese Society for Regenerative Medicine. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

	3.3. Vascularization of liver organoids			
	3.4. Disease modeling with liver organoids			
4.	Conclusion	231		
	Funding			
	Author contribution	231		
	Declaration of Generative AI and AI-assisted technologies in the writing process			
	Declaration of competing interest	231		
	Acknowledgments	231		
	References	231		

#### 1. Introduction

An organoid is a miniature cellular structure that partly mimics organ structure and function [1]. Therefore, an organoid culture recapitulates a developmental process in vitro. Earlier, organoids were generated by culturing tissue-specific stem/progenitor/ pluripotent stem cells in optimized growth conditions comprising extracellular matrices and growth factors [2,3]. Later, organoids were also generated by coculturing epithelial progenitors with mesenchymal cells and endothelial cells [4]. More recently, organoids are generated by simultaneously inducing differentiation of epithelial and mesenchymal cells in cocultures; the mesenchymalepithelial developmental interactions promote in vitro organogenesis [5]. This third strategy seems reasonable for in vitro organogenesis, given that both epithelial and mesenchymal cells emerge simultaneously, and their interaction is crucial for organogenesis in vivo. However, in this method, regulating the ratio of epithelial, mesenchymal, and other types of cells (such as hematopoietic cells) is challenging. Therefore, the second method-in which component cells are induced from pluripotent stem cells independently and then co-cultured-still has some advantages, e.g. adjusting the ratio among different types of cells, to generate multicellular organoids.

In establishing an organoid culture system, the culture medium, growth factors, and cytokines are optimized by referring to *in vivo* essential factors governing the development of the tissue of interest. Therefore, understanding *in vivo* organ/tissue developmental processes is crucial. Mostly, *in vivo* organ/tissue developmental processes are studied using mice. Therefore, one must consider interspecies differences when inducing human induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSCs) differentiation using organogenesis knowledge from mice studies [6]. Recent progresses in scRNA-seq analysis of human fetal cells may fill the knowledge gaps between mouse and human organogenesis.

In this review, we first summarize our current knowledge on liver development and epithelial morphogenesis that are essential in generating liver organoids. We then review the current liver organoid culture systems that aim to mimic *in vivo* liver tissue structure and function with a view of modeling liver diseases.

#### 2. Liver organogenesis

Recapitulation of the developmental process *in vitro* is a widely used strategy for generating functional *ex vivo* tissue. Therefore, knowing how multipotent stem/progenitor cells differentiate and establish three-dimensional (3D) tissue structures could help establish organoids. In the following sections, unless otherwise mentioned, the liver development findings pertain to that in mice.

## 2.1. Early development of hepatobiliary organs

#### 2.1.1. Liver bud formation and growth

The liver, gallbladder (GB), extrahepatic bile duct (EHBD), and ventral pancreas (VP) arise from the ventral side of the posterior region of the foregut endoderm. Signals from the surrounding mesoderm induce foregut endoderm differentiation. The BMP4 signal from septum transversum mesenchyme (STM) and the FGF2 signal from cardiac mesoderm induce foregut endoderm to differentiate into liver primordium rather than VP [7–9] (Fig. 1A). While the FGF10 signal from STM induces pancreato-biliary characteristics via FGF10/FGFRIIb/Sox9 signal axis [10,11]. The analyses of zebrafish and medaka mutants which show abnormal liver organogenesis demonstrates that retinaldehvde dehvdrogenase type2 (RALDH2; the enzyme responsible for retinoic acid (RA) biosynthesis) modulates hepatic fate by regulating WNT2bb expression in the lateral plate mesoderm [12,13]. Hepatic diverticulum tissue undergoes morphological conversion from columnar monolayered epithelium to pseudostratified epithelium around embryonic day 9.0 (E9.0), and hepatoblasts migrate into STM, mixing with mesenchymal and endothelial cells around E9.5 [14]. Later around E13.5, WT1<sup>+</sup> mesothelial cells promote liver growth by secreting pleiotrophin and midkine [15], whereas fibroblastic cells including hepatic stellate cells inside the liver tissue contribute to the growth by secreting FGF10 [16]. These cellular interactions support liver specification and growth.

In addition to cellular/tissue interactions, blood flow through liver vasculatures generates mechanical forces and thereby contributes to substantial liver growth. Lorenz et al. showed that the liver endothelial cells sense the blood flow via Integrin  $\beta$ 1 and VEGFR3 and secret angiocrine growth factors (e.g., HGF) that contribute to hepatocyte proliferation around E12.5-E13.5 [17].

#### 2.1.2. Extrahepatic biliary development

Until recently, human extrahepatic biliary tissue (GB and EHBD) was considered to arise from AFP<sup>+</sup> hepatoblasts in the liver bud, based on a descriptive study of the human fetal growth [18]. However, the organ developmental trajectory analyses using gene-editing and lineage tracing experiments in mice demonstrated that extrahepatic biliary tissue and VP arises from a common progenitor, and not from hepatoblasts. *Pdx1* (*pancreatic and duodenal homeobox-1*) lineage tracing experiments showed that extrahepatic biliary tissue, including pancreas, is lineage labeled in *Pdx1*-Cre: ROSA26-LacZ mice [19]. The liver primordium is Hnf4a(+)Pdx1(-)Sox9(-), whereas EHBD, including cystic, hepatic, and common bile ducts, GB, and VP are differentiated from Hnf4a(-)Pdx1(+)Sox9(+) region [11] (Fig. 1B). SOX17 loss-of-function in posterior foregut hinders extrahepatic biliary development, whereas SOX17 gain-of-function



Fig. 1. Schematic representation of fetal liver development. (A) Liver develops from the foregut endoderm next to cardiac mesoderm; (B) Early segregation of intra and extrahepatic tissue.

suppresses pancreas development and is associated with ectopic biliary differentiation [19].  $Sox 17^{-/+}$  mice showed perinatal biliary atresia and hepatitis, and nearly 95% of mice died perinatally [20-22]. Hes1<sup>-/-</sup> mice showed ectopic pancreatic differentiation in the EHBDs and GB regions, indicating that Hes1 contributes to the pancreas/biliary lineage segregation [19,23,24]. Hnf6 (Onecut1) and Hnf1b are essential for normal development of EHBD and IHBD [25,26]. In zebrafish, EphrinB ligands and EphB receptors family coordinate the hepatopancreatic duct tubulogenesis [27]. However, further studies are needed to confirm if mammals share a similar mechanism. EHBDs have unique glandular structures called peribiliary gland (PBG), which produce mucus and act as "stem cell compartments" [28-32]. Histological analyses indicate EHBDs start as simple tubular structures in the fetus (Okumura A unpublished data), and transitions from "mural" to "extramural" gland associated with the cellular hierarchy [31] probably during postnatal development. Depending on studies using knockout mice, Hhex [33], Pdx1 [34,35], Lgr4 [36], and Robo1/2 [37] have been correlated with extrahepatic biliary development. In addition to mouse studies, recent single-cell transcriptome analysis strongly supports the hypothesis that extrahepatic biliary tissue arises from pancreato-biliary common progenitor (not from hepatoblast) also in humans [38]. Thus, indicating that mouse developmental studies can translate well in understanding human extrahepatic biliary development and diseases. However, extrahepatic biliary tissue morphogenesis and its underlying mechanisms remain largely unknown.

#### 2.2. Hepatic tissue structure formation

Fetal liver functions as the hematopoietic organ in midgestation; while hematopoietic stem cells migrate from aortagonad-mesonephros, and erythroid-myeloid progenitors migrate from the yolk sac [39,40]. Even though the vascular network is evident, epithelial tissue structures are not established at this stage. Around E15, mice hepatoblasts adjacent to the portal vein (PV) start to differentiate into cholangiocytes [41]. Beyond this point, bile canaliculus (BC) between hepatocytes and bile duct consisting of cholangiocytes gradually form and become established in the neonatal stage after hematopoietic cells migrate from the liver to the spleen and bone marrow [42] (Fig. 2A).

#### 2.2.1. Bile canaliculi (BC) network formation

Hepatocytes possess unique apicobasal polarity; the tiny apical lumen (namely BC) forms between neighboring hepatocytes whose basal domain is not supported by the basement membrane, but rather faces the sinusoidal endothelial cells via the space of Disse.

The results from in vitro experiments unraveling the mechanisms of BC network development are contradictory. The cell polarity protein Partitioning defect 1b (Par1b) (or microtubule affinity-regulating kinase 2 (MARK2)) and the bile acid taurocholate activated intracellular signal pathway control hepatocytetype polarity and BC network formation, respectively [43,44]. Moreover, cultured primary adult hepatocytes form BC networks during cytokinesis [45], suggesting that cell proliferation is the major driving force for BC formation. However, in vivo, BC networks develop significantly around E17 in mice [46], when hepatocytes are proliferating at a reduced rate after the midembryonic period, with only 5.6% hepatocytes proliferating at E17.5 [47]. Consistently, using live cell imaging of the BC formation in E13.5 mouse hepatoblasts cultures), Belicova et al. demonstrated that BC network can form without cell division. They found that luminal spaces between hepatocytes elongate, branch, and fuse to form BC



**Fig. 2.** Liver epithelial tissue structure. (A) Hepatocytes form bile canalicular network connected to bile ducts which drain the bile secreted by hepatocytes. (B) Hepatocytes first form tiny lumens along cell–cell boundary, which fuse and branch to become the bile canalicular network. The F-actin rich structure called "bulkhead" protrudes in the bile canalicular lumen, conferring mechanical strength to the lumen. (C) Cholangiocytes differentiate from hepatoblasts around the portal vein (PV); they first form "asymmetric duct" with hepatoblasts and then become mature "symmetric" ducts.

networks. Notably, they revealed with super-resolution microscopy that a F-actin-rich structure called "bulkhead" protrudes into the BC lumen. The bulkhead protrusion is named based on its visual similarities with the ship bulkheads (vertical wall-like partition between compartments) (Fig. 2B) [48]. They also demonstrated that Rab35 (endosome recycling and membrane trafficking protein) is essential for bulkhead formation; with Rab35 knockdown, hepatocytes in hepatoblast cultures and in fetal liver achieve hepatocyte-type polarity but eventually form bile duct like lumens. Bulkheads in BC lumen function like bulkhead in a small ship; they mechanically support the BC lumen and help it withstand the intraluminal pressure due to bile excretion [49].

# 2.2.2. Bile duct development

2.2.2.1. Formation of the biliary structure. Cholangiocytes exhibit the typical epithelial apicobasal polarity; the basal domain is supported by the basement membrane, whereas the apical domain faces to the central lumen surrounded by cholangiocytes. Cholangiocytes differentiate from hepatoblasts, around midgestation and then form intrahepatic bile ducts (IHBDs). In the classic model of IHBD development, ductal plates comprised a single cholangiocyte layer form around the PV, which later attains a double-cell layered structure. Lumens emerge between the two cell layers, which are reorganized into tubular BDs [41] (Fig. 2C). All processes start in the hilum region and proceed along the hilum-to-

periphery axis [50]. Classical BD formation model is based on 2D imaging results. Recently, 3D imaging analyses have revealed models contrasting with the classical BD formation model. Retrograde resin injection into IHBDs from the common bile duct revealed branching structures in the entire liver tissue [51]. Kaneko et al. demonstrated that the IHBD network around the PVs in the adult liver is formed by large ducts and small ductules, establishing a novel 3D imaging methodology with carbon ink injection [52]. We followed IHBD morphogenesis from E17 to adulthood, using carbon ink injection method (Fig. 3) [53]. We found that between E17 and E18, the immature homogeneous luminal network is rearranged into a mature hierarchical network (Fig. 4). This is evidenced by the color of the intestine turning yellow from white at E18, suggesting the bile starts to flow through biliary transport system around E18 after bile canaliculi network is established. Therefore, the bile flow enhances the transition of IHBDs network from its homogeneous to hierarchical luminal network state. At E17, by when most of the luminal structures are interconnected, BD lumens are in "asymmetric ducts" stage in the peripheral tissue, surrounded by cholangiocytes and hepatoblasts; they later differentiate into "symmetric ducts" surrounded uniformly by cholangiocytes [54]. We have not examined whether hepatoblasts surrounding the luminal structure are incorporated into the continuous luminal network. However, luminal connectivity formation may precede the completion of the hepatoblast-tocholangiocyte fate decision.

2.2.2.2. Regulation of cholangiocyte differentiation and IHBD morphogenesis. Our understanding of molecular mechanisms governing hepatoblast-to-cholangiocyte differentiation and bile duct morphogenesis has progressed due to studies on abnormal bile duct development seen in human congenital biliary diseases and mutant mice (Fig. 3). In the following sections we will discuss the various signaling pathways and factors involved in hepatoblast-to-cholangiocyte differentiation and IHBD morphogenesis.

2.2.2.2.1. Jagged1-Notch pathway in liver epithelial cell fate decision and IHBD morphogenesis. Alagille syndrome, a congenital disease showing multiple developmental defects, including a paucity of IHBDs, has been intensively analyzed. Jagged-1 (JAG1) and Notch2 mutations are responsible for Alagille syndrome [55]. Notch2 knockout mice (Alfp-Cre:Notch2 flox/flox mice)—with Alfp-Cre (hepatoblast specific Cre-recombinase system expressing Cre under control of the Albumin regulatory element and  $\alpha$ -fetoprotein enhancer)—showed a complete deficiency of the cholangiocyte



Fig. 3. Molecular mechanism of hepatoblast fate decision.

differentiation [56]. While, in SM22-Cre:  $JAG1^{\text{flox}/\text{flox}}$  mice—in which JAG1 was depleted in vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs)—cholangiocyte number was diminished, and tubular morphogenesis was abnormal [57]. These results suggest that the cholangiocyte differentiation is mediated by interactions between JAG1<sup>+</sup> VSMCs or periportal fibroblasts and Notch2<sup>+</sup> hepatoblasts. Contrastingly, mice harboring *JAG1* missense mutation (H268Q; *JAG1*<sup>Ndr/Ndr</sup>) phenocopied human Alagille syndrome, including eye, heart, and liver defects [58]. H268Q JAG1 has reduced Notch1 binding capacity, while its Notch2 binding is unaffected. Given that Notch2 is the critical receptor mediating the signal in hepatoblast-to-cholangiocyte fate decision, H268Q JAG1 phenocopying Alagille syndrome seems counter-intuitive. Thus, further studies are necessary to understand how Notch1 and Notch2 cooperatively regulate biliary development.

Hippo-YAP pathway is upstream of the Notch signaling pathway [59]. Overexpression of activated YAP or loss of plasma membrane localization (and subsequent activation) of the YAP-negative regulator Lats1/2 via knockout of neurofibromatosis type 2 protein (NF2; also known as merlin or neurofibromin 2) results in upregulated Notch 2 and aberrant Notch pathway activation. These changes lead to abnormal expansion of biliary structures, and subsequently to cholangiocarcinoma [60]. However, YAP depletion in Alb-Cre:YAP<sup>flox/flox</sup> and FoxA3-Cre:YAP<sup>flox/flox</sup> mice results in irregular duct structures and the complete loss of IHBD, respectively, in neonatal liver. YAP nuclear localization is detected in cholangiocytes in adult liver [61]. These results further indicate that Notch signaling pathway is crucial in liver epithelial cell fate decision and IHBD morphogenesis.

2.2.2.2.2. Extracellular matrix proteins in IHBD formation and maintenance. The extracellular matrix (ECM) has a pivotal role in morphogenesis and maintenance of epithelial structures including tubular structures such as IHBD, pancreatic duct, kidney tubules, and respiratory airway [62]. The basement membrane, comprised ECM proteins (such as laminins, collagens, and proteoglycans), supports epithelial tissue. Among ECM proteins, laminins crucially establish epithelial polarity and morphogenesis [63]. IHBDs, PVs, CVs, and hepatic arteries are surrounded by a laminin layer. In E14 liver tissue, the laminin 111 (supplied from p75NTR<sup>+</sup> fibroblasts) induces establishment of apicobasal polarity in liver progenitor cells and formation of cyst structure in vitro [64]. Thus, laminin 111 regulates initiation of bile duct tubule formation, whereas laminin 511/521 regulates bile duct tubule maturation. Mature cholangiocytes express laminin 511/521; and bile duct maturation is suppressed in laminin- $\alpha$ 5 knockout mice [64].

2.2.2.3. Transcription factors involved in bile duct development. Several transcription factors implicated in IHBD development have been identified by studying mutant mice with abnormal IHBD structures. Depletion of hepatocyte nuclear factor 6 (HNF6) and onecut 2 (OC2) disturbs the PV-CV gradient of the TGF $\beta$  signal, via increasing TGF $\beta$ RII and decreasing  $\beta$ 2-macroglobulin and follistatin (negative regulators for the TGF $\beta$  signal) [65]. These changes induce hepatoblasts with "hybrid phenotypes" (double positive for HNF4 $\alpha$ and biliary cytokeratin) which form cystic structures. Cystic structures surrounded by "hybrid cells" are also abundantly formed in Foxa3-Cre: *Hhex*<sup>flox/flox</sup>, *C/EBP* $\alpha^{-/-}$ , and Foxa3-Cre: *Prox1*<sup>flox/flox</sup> mice [33,66,67]. Among these three transcription factors, *C/EBP* $\alpha$  suppresses HNF6 and HNF1 $\beta$  expression. Therefore, the appropriate HNF6 expression in hepatoblasts may essentially control cholangiocyte differentiation around the PV.

Alfp-Cre:  $HNF1\beta^{flox/flox}$  mice showed severe defects in bile duct morphogenesis [26]. HNF1 $\beta$  regulates primary cilia-related gene expression, including *polycystic kidney and hepatic disease 1 (Pkhd1)* gene. Studying HNF1 $\beta$ -/- kidney revealed that HNF1 $\beta$  could be involved in cell divisions through regulating "planar cell polarity" (see section 2.2.2.4); in the absence of HNF1 $\beta$ , elongation perpendicular to the axis dominated over that along the axis, resulting in lumen expansion and polycystic disease [68]. Alfp-Cre: Sox9 <sup>flox/flox</sup> mice showed delayed IHBD morphogenesis, which is enhanced in Sox4<sup>-/-</sup>Sox9<sup>-/-</sup> mice [54,56]. Sox4 and Sox9 cooperatively regulate laminin  $\alpha$ 5 and components of the Notch, TGF $\beta$ , and Hippo signaling pathways.

Grainyhead like-2 (Grhl2) expressed in tubular BDs induces expansion of the central lumen of cholangiocyte cysts *in vitro*. Grhl2 regulates claudin 3 (CLDN3), CLDN4, and Rab25, which are involved in tight junction formation crucial for lumen expansion [69]. Notably, HNF1 $\beta$ , SOX9, and GRHL2 are widely expressed in epithelial tubular structures. Mechanistic analysis of these factors in bile duct development may lead to understanding common regulatory mechanisms that govern epithelial tubulogenesis.

2.2.2.4. Planar cell polarity pathway. The planar cell polarity (PCP) pathway is involved in the zebrafish bile duct, mammalian lung, kidney, and pancreatic duct formation [70]. Raab et al. analyzed the single cell RNA-seq (scRNA-seq) data of mouse fetal liver cells and found that the PCP-related gene *Vangl2* whose protein interacts with desmosomal proteins and patterns cellular contact is highly expressed in EpCAM<sup>+</sup> cholangiocytes isolated from mice fetus aged  $\geq$  E14.5 [71]. Based on their observation that discontinuous bile duct fragments were evident in the *Vangl2* hypomorphic mutant mice, they concluded that the Vangl2/ROCK/ RHO or JNK pathway activation is essential for the formation of continuous tubular network.

2.2.2.5. Epigenetic regulation of hepatoblast-to-cholangiocyte differentiation. We previously found that the methylation status of promoter regions of key hepatocyte transcription factors is different between hepatocytes and cholangiocytes [72]. Epigenetic regulation also occurs during hepatocyte de-differentiation [73]. Further, Wang et al., through their scRNA-seq analysis of fetal mice

and human liver genomes, demonstrated the epigenetic regulation of liver development and proposed the "default vs. directed" model of hepatoblast differentiation [74]. According to this model, the hepatocyte differentiation is the "default" lineage program, whereas cholangiocyte differentiation is highly "directed" to deviate from the default hepatocyte program. Hepatoblasts express hepatocytic functional genes before cholangiocytes emerge. Whereas in cholangiocytes these genes are turned off immediately after differentiation. Furthermore, using integrated multi-omics analysis (RNA-seq, ATAC-seq, and ChiP-seq) they revealed that E12.5 hepatoblasts express high levels of EZH2 (histone methyltransferase) and JMJD3 (histone demethylase) than E15.5 or E17.5 hepatoblasts [75]. EZH2 binds to the promotor of genes related to cholangiocyte differentiation and maturation, and it suppresses their expressions. EZH2 and/or JMJD3 inhibition and knockout experiments suggested that these H3K27me3 modifiers antagonistically regulate cholangiocyte differentiation. Gene ontology analysis revealed several genes (including *WNT*, *TGF* $\beta$ , and Notch signaling components) that selectively lose H3K27me3 modification in cholangiocytes. Meanwhile, only a few genes in hepatocytes lose H3K27me3 modification. Thus, elimination of H3K27me3 modification from the bivalent promoters likely requires hepatoblast-tocholangiocyte differentiation.

2.2.2.6. Connection between intrahepatic and extrahepatic bile ducts. The EHBD-IHBD luminal connection is crucial for bile drainage. During early embryogenesis, the lineages of cells forming EHBD and liver segregate around E9.0 (Fig. 1B), and after that, epithelial cells of IHBD and EHBD seem to develop independently. Although the mechanisms generating the luminal continuity remain largely unknown, histological analyses suggests that IHBD and EHBD lumens are discontinuous in the boundary region at gestational week 19 (GW19) and they connect by GW25 [76]. EHBD maintains its luminal structure during its developmental



Fig. 4. Bile duct morphogenesis. The continuous luminal network of intrahepatic bile duct (IHBD) is mostly established by E17.5; the IHBD network is still immature homogeneously consisting of fine tubules. Between E17.5 and E18.5, the homogeneous fine luminal network is rearranged into the hierarchical network that contains large ducts and meshlike fine ductules. [To help visualize, carbon ink was injected from the junction between EHBD and the duodenum, and the liver tissue was cleared in BABB after dehydration in ethanol].

morphogenesis, whereas IHBD gradually generates luminal structure along the hilum-to-periphery. During the process, the nascent lumen of IHBD may eventually connect to the EHBD lumen. Even though EHBD tissue lies apposing the liver epithelial tissue (from which cholangiocytes emerge) in the liver hilum throughout embryogenesis [76], it has not been ascertained if the final connecting step is led by IHBD outgrowth or EHBD outgrowth. Genetic lineage tracing is unable to segregate the origin of the connecting tissue due to the lack of early tissue specification markers of EHBD and IHBD. Further imaging analysis and lineage tracing studies are necessary to understand the development of the whole biliary system.

#### 2.2.3. Liver vasculature formation

Liver is a highly vascularized organ. Blood enters liver tissue through PV and hepatic artery, flows through liver tissue via sinusoids, and flows out through CV. Liver sinusoidal endothelial cells (LSEC) forming the sinusoid have fenestrations, through which various substances and metabolites are exchanged in the space of Disse. Some of the substances and metabolites in the space of Disse flow into lymphatic vessels around the PV [77]. LSEC differentiation and sinusoid formation have been studied in mouse embryos. Endothelial cells (ECs) which contribute to hepatoblast proliferation are observed on the surface of the liver bud at E9.0. Beyond this stage, liver bud expands, invades into STM, while ECs inside the liver tissue form luminal structures at E10.5 [78]. Macroscopic observation and scRNA-seq data reveal that erythroblast exists in E10.5 liver [79,80], indicating that blood flow from the placenta via umbilical vein or the heart into the liver starts by this stage. The lineage tracing experiments demonstrate that LSECs originate from endocardial cells of sinus venosus (SV). Liver vasculature endothelial cells are negative for nuclear factor of activated T-cells, cytoplasmic 1 (NFATc1) protein throughout the developmental process. NFATc1 is a unique lineage marker for endocardial cells. When endocardial cells of SV were labeled in the Nfatc1-IREScreER:ROSA-LSL-RFP mice (at E8.0 but not at E9.5), most hepatic endothelial cells were labeled with RFP. This demonstrated that endocardial cells of SV migrate to the liver around E8.0-9.5 and contribute to the formation of liver vasculature. Furthermore, dual lineage tracing experiments using NFATc1-IRES-Dre:Npr3-CreER:ROSA-RSR-LSL-RFP identified endocardial cells in SV (but not in atrial and ventricular endocardium) as the origin of the hepatic endothelial cells [81]. In addition to SV-derived cells, liver



Close after birth

**Fig. 5. Origin of liver vasculatures.** The liver bud migrates into septum transversum mesenchyme (STM) and includes part of vitelline and umbilical veins. Right vitelline vein is incorporated into the liver tissue as the portal vein (PV) that carries nutrient-rich blood from the intestine. Umbilical veins carry the placental blood to the liver, and later the left umbilical vein persists to form ductus venosus, which bypasses the placental blood to the heart in the upper part of fetus; and eventually close after birth (DeSesso JM 2016). The lineage tracing experiments demonstrated that endothelial cells of sinusoid (consisting of sinusoidal endothelial cells, LSEC) are derived from endocardial cells of SV (Zhang H et al., 2016). In addition, endocardial cells of the cardiac vein juxtaposed to the liver bud become the hepatic vein that drains blood from the liver to the inferior vena cava (DeSesso JM 2016).

vasculature is partly formed by ECs surrounding the E8.5 liver bud which invade into the liver tissue alongside angiogenesis from vitelline or umbilical veins (Fig. 5).

LSECs are distinct from other ECs, forming microvasculature in their permeable and discontinuous structure owing to fenestration. GATA4 deletion in LSEC in Stab2-Cre:Gata4<sup>fl/fl</sup> mice results in the loss of LSEC-specific characters including fenestration, and induces embryonic lethality between E15.5 and E17.5 [82]. Activin receptorlike kinase 1 (ALK1) mutation causes hereditary hepatic vessel malformation disease. Indeed, BMP9 (stellate cell derived ALK1ligand) knockout mice showed loss of the LSEC character in the liver microvasculature, accompanied by the downregulation of GATA4 and other LSEC markers such as Lyve1 and Stab2 [83]. SMAD6—which is downstream of BMP9 is a negative regulator of the ALK1-signal pathway—is necessary for forming endothelial cell junctions, indicating that tuning the ALK1 signal is important for liver vasculogenesis [84]. Gomez-Salinero et al. performed temporal scRNA-seq analysis for LSEC from E12 to P30 and found that transcription factor c-Maf is continuously upregulated over time. Deletion of c-Maf in endothelial cells of VE-cadherin (Cdh5/CD144)-Cre<sup>Ert2</sup>: c-Maf<sup>flox/flox</sup> mice resulted in the loss of LSEC features [85]. Their scRNA-seq data showed that Gata4 is expressed in all types of endothelial cells in the liver, which is in sharp contrast to c-Maf, which is expressed only in LSECs. Moreover, in vitro overexpression studies showed that GATA4 overexpression induces LSEC marker genes in HUVECs but not the formation of LSEC-specific structures (e.g., fenestrae). Whereas c-Maf overexpression in HUVEC not only induces LSEC marker expression but also fenestration. Thus, c-MAF could be a master regulator of LSEC differentiation. However, the functional correlation between c-Maf and GATA4 in LSEC differentiation should be further clarified.

Xia et al. investigated the role of sialylation in LSEC using endothelial/hematopoietic cell-specific Slc15a1 (CMP-sialic acid transporter) knockout (Tie2-Cre: Slc15a1<sup>flox/flox</sup>) mice [86]. These mice die postnatally due to severe hepatic injury, accompanied by hepatic lipid deposition. They found that endothelial Slc15a1 knockout leads to loss of LSEC characteristics (e.g., reduced fenestrae, decreased expression of LYVE1, increased deposition of Laminin ECM, and increased expression of CD34). Protein sialylation modulates the affinity of ligands for their receptor. Therefore the phenotypes of Slc15a1 mice were at least partly due to the desialylation of VEGFR2, resulting in overactivation of the VEGF signaling. Although it is still controversial whether VEGF signaling has positive or negative effects on LSEC differentiation and identity maintenance [87], VEGF signaling inhibitor partly rescued the Tie2-Cre: Slc15a1<sup>flox/flox</sup> phenotype. Notably, previous studies have focused mainly on the transcriptome data, but less on posttranslational modifications. This work highlights that in addition to translational regulation, posttranslational modification (such as sialvlation) can affect the endothelial function.

In addition to their specialized functions as hepatic endothelial cells, LSECs have a crucial role in determining hepatocyte characteristics. Hepatocytes are characterized by region-specific metabolism type, and the liver tissue consists of Zone-1; periportal, 2; interlobular, 3; pericentral hepatocytes lined along the PV-CV axis [87], which is established in the postnatal period [88–90]. The region specific-LSEC-derived growth factors (Wnt2, Wnt9b, R-spo3, and BMP2) contribute to the zonation [85,91–95]. Indeed, developmental defects of LSEC differentiation disrupt hepatic parenchymal zonation; Slc15a knockout resulted in poor expression of the pericentral metabolic enzyme (e.g., GS: glutaminase synthetase, Cyp2e1). LSECs themselves develop distinctive cellular characteristics along the PV-CV axis and then regulate hepatocyte zonation. However, further studies are needed to reveal whether disrupted hepatocyte zonation, in turn, affects LSEC zonation and



Fig. 6. Progressive improvement of liver buds to mimic in vivo liver tissue structures.

how LSEC zonation is regulated during embryonic and neonatal liver development.

## 3. Liver tissue reconstitution in vitro

A culture system containing tissue structures rather than a planar cell culture is complex but better mimics the *in vivo* functions of tissue/organ (Fig. 6). Organotypic or organoid cultures using tissue explants, or a mixture of primary cells have been reported since the late 1960s. Among various liver culture methods, spheroid culture has been widely used to maintain hepatocyte functions *in vitro*, whereas sandwich cultures of primary mature hepatocytes are a major culture method for inducing bile canalicular structure. Furthermore, Mitaka et al. generated a liver organoid using primary rat cells, in which hepatocyte progenitors cultured with

"nonparenchymal cells" form the bile canalicular network [96]. These prototype culture techniques are still used to induce or maintain the function of hepatic cells *ex vivo*.

Since intestinal organoids derived from mouse intestinal columnar stem cells [2] or human pluripotent stem cells (hPSCs) [97] and an optic-cup organoid derived from human embryonic stem cell (hES) [3] were reported, organoid culture systems are being explosively established for many tissues and organ types. Although we reported cholangiocyte organotypic culture in 2007 [98], liver organoids have been widely recognized since the publication of two innovative works: 1) a cystic liver organoid created from a facultative liver stem cell derived from chronically injured mouse liver [99]; and 2) a liver bud organoid derived from hiPSCs [4]. Until now, many types of liver organoids have been reported. The simplest organoid (which includes hepatocyte or cholangiocyte

organoids) is comprised of a single cell type and has a uniform structure. However, since cellular or tissue interactions are essential for physiological functioning, the recent approach to generating liver organoids is to integrate multiple types of cells and tissues. There are two approaches in generating liver organoids containing various cell types: 1) in the first method, multiple lineage cells, such as endoderm and mesoderm cells, are simultaneously induced from multipotential progenitors, including ES and hiPSC, and then directed to form liver tissue; and 2) in the second method several lineage cells are independently differentiated and then mixed to induce tissue morphogenesis. In this section, we summarize liver organoids consisting of single or multiple types of cells and then touch upon disease modeling with liver organoids.

# 3.1. Liver organoid containing a single type of cell (hepatocyte organoid, cholangiocyte organoid)

# 3.1.1. Hepatocyte organoid

Hepatocytes are the major functional liver cells and are crucial for pharmacological assays. However, isolated hepatocytes stop exhibiting physiological functions in a planar culture. Spheroid and sandwich culture have been used for maintaining hepatocyte functions *in vitro*. In spheroid culture, hepatocytes aggregate without attaching to the plate. Whereas in sandwich culture, hepatocytes are plated between two layers of collagen gel. Hepatocytes form tissue structures, especially the bile canalicular network, in the sandwich method, which is further enhanced by coculturing with non-parenchymal cells [96].

Although primary hepatocytes lose their proliferative capacity, there exists a subpopulation called "small hepatocytes" (located in ZONE1 and 2), which can clonally proliferate and have redifferentiation potential. These small hepatocytes can be used for organoid culture. In addition, with recent discovery that hepatocytes exhibit lineage plasticity, Katsuda et al. successfully generated progenitor cells from primary mature hepatocytes [100]. Thus, organoid cultures are feasible using primary hepatocytes. Indeed, Hu et al. generated "hepatocyte organoid" containing bile canaliculi using human fetal liver cells [101], whereas Peng et al. expanded hepatocytes using TNFa stimulation and formed a hepatocyte organoid [102]. Spheroid culture usually helps hepatocyte-like cells induced from ESC and iPSC to achieve normal metabolic functioning [103]. Although, bile canaliculi have been successfully induced in hepatocytes derived from hiPSCs [104,105], the robust generation of bile canalicular network has not been reported in hepatocyte organoids created from pluripotent stem cells.

#### 3.1.2. Cholangiocyte organoid

Epithelial cells (such as cholangiocytes) cultured in ECM gel form a "cyst," which is a spheroid with a central lumen. Further, within the cyst the epithelial cells establish apicobasal polarity and acquire secretory functions. In contrast to mature cholangiocytes, bipotential liver progenitors require exogenous laminin to form cysts [98]. Cholangiocytes lie on the basement membrane from the onset of bile duct development. Using this knowledge, cholangiocyte organoids have been generated by mimicking cell-ECM interactions in culture. When the cell-ECM interaction is reproduced by culturing liver progenitor cells in EHS-gel that contains the basement membrane components, apicobasal epithelial polarity and secretory function are induced in the 3D culture [98].

A liver organoid with a cyst-like morphology was generated from "liver progenitor cells" isolated from damaged livers [99]. However, differentiation of the liver progenitor cells in the cystic liver organoid was biased toward developing into cholangiocytes. Therefore, these organoids are called "Cholangiocyte organoids" in subsequent papers [101]. A similar protocol was followed with cholangiocytes derived from human adult liver, and a cyst-like "Cholangiocyte organoid" structure was induced *in vitro* [106]. Further, tube-shaped bile ducts networks form in collagen gel sandwich cultures of liver progenitor cells or cholangiocytes isolated from adult liver [107,108]. Roos FJM et al. recently generated branching cholangiocyte organoid from human primary cholangiocytes by controlling the WNT-canonical and noncanonical signal pathways. They first generated cholangiocyte cysts by culturing the primary cholangiocytes in WNT-canonical signal activating conditioned medium containing EGF, HGF, FGF, A8301, and Forskolin with WNT and R-spondin (RSPO). Subsequently, they induced branching morphogenesis by culturing the cholangiocyte cysts in WNT-noncanonical signal activating conditioned medium containing EGF, dexamethasone, Dkk1 (WNT-canonical signal inhibitor), and RSPO [109].

Cholangiocyte-like cells have been induced from hiPSCs. Generally, the culture protocols inducing cholangiocytes from hiPSCs contain a hepatoblast differentiation step. As mentioned in Sections 2.2.2.2.1 and 2.2.2.2.3, intrahepatic cholangiocyte differentiation and IHBD formation are driven by Jagged1-Notch and TGF $\beta$  signaling. TGF $\beta$  ligands are soluble and active in the medium, whereas Notch ligands show limited activity in soluble forms [110,111]. Previously, IHBD organoids were generated using mainly two approaches: 1) coculture with JAG1-expressing or JAG1overexpressing cells [112,113], or 2) activate an alternative signal pathway (e.g., RA) to induce the expression of cholangiocyte genes (e.g., Sox9, CFTR, Onecut1) [114,115]. Instead of using [AG1expressing cells. Rizwan et al. devised a IAG1-immobilized-hvaluronan (HA) hydrogel in which IAG1 activity could be induced by photochemical stimuli [116] Using this system, they not only successfully induced the JAG1 driven cholangiocytes development (without using exogenous cells) but also created the tubular IHBD structure from human ES cells in vitro.

#### 3.2. Hepato-biliary organoid

Bile canaliculi are connected to bile ducts via a junctional structure called the canal of Hering (CoH) near the PV. Because of their bidirectional differentiation potential, the bipotential liver progenitor cells can differentiate into hepatocytes and cholangiocytes and, in appropriate culture condition, they might be able to eventually generate hepatobiliary organoids containing bile canaliculi connected to bile ducts via CoH. We attempted to create organoids using bipotential neonatal EpCAM(+) cells [117] in collagen-containing EHS-gel. We found that EpCAM(+) cells form a cellular structure associated with a lumen containing both hepatocytes and cholangiocytes. However, lumen surrounded by a cell layer consisting of hepatocytes and cholangiocytes is different from the in vivo hepatobiliary structure. Hepatobiliary organoids have also been generated from human fetal liver cells and hiPSCs [118,119]. These organoids contain both hepatocytes and cholangiocytes, and absorb the bile acid, which accumulates in cystic structures consisting of cholangiocyte-like cells. Ramli et al. demonstrated that fluorescent-labeled bile acid taken up by hepatocytes is secreted into bile canalicular structures, and then transported to cholangiocyte cysts [120]. Although these organoids achieve a hepatobiliary tissue structure, organoids with in vivo-like liver tissue structure in which bile canaliculi are connected to tubular bile ducts via CoH remain to be established.

Histochemical analyses of mouse fetal liver demonstrate that the connection between the bile canaliculi and bile ducts is already established at E17. Even though the bile canaliculi is discontinuous, an immature fine homogeneous luminal network of IHBDs is already established [53,121]. These data suggest that the generation of hepatobiliary connection is an early event in liver epithelial

# А



Fig. 7. Generation of hepatobiliary tubular organoid (HBTO). Mouse cholangiocytes are cultured on collagen. After they form colonies, hepatocyte progenitors are plated. Overlaying collagen gel containing 20% EHS-gel induces simultaneous formation of bile canaliculi and bile ducts comprised hepatocytes. At the boundary, bile canaliculi are connected to bile duct lumens through "the canal of Hering (CoH)."

morphogenesis. Thus, we hypothesized that the early contact between hepatocytes and cholangiocytes is crucial to induce hepatobiliary connection. Therefore, to generate hepatobiliary organoids, we used primary cholangiocytes and hepatocyte progenitors freshly isolated from adult mice. We maintained cholangiocytes on collagen gel until they formed colonies. Subsequently, to allow an interface between hepatocytes and cholangiocytes to form, we seeded hepatocyte progenitors at the beginning of coculture (Fig. 7A). Next, we overlayed collagen gel containing 20% EHS-gel on the coculture to induce formation of bile ducts and bile canaliculi, which are connected through CoH (Fig. 7B). We named this organoid as hepatobiliary tubular organoid (HBTO). Our data indicated that hepatocyte progenitors that are positive for E-cadherin and located in ZONE1 and 2 of the liver tissues, dominantly interact with ECAD<sup>+</sup> cholangiocytes, as compared to the rest of hepatocytes. The liver organoids containing intrahepatic biliary system has several advantages, including mimicking bile transport within liver tissue and maintaining hepatocyte function over a long period (around 1 month). Further, HBTO is expected to be useful in recapitulating chronic liver injury caused by hepatocyte damage, such as cholestasis. Currently, we are constructing a hepatocyte damage induced chronic liver injury model, by incorporating Kupffer and stellate cells, which play key roles in liver disease, in HBTO.

#### 3.3. Vascularization of liver organoids

Vascularization of the liver organoid is crucial for increasing organoid size and for maintaining their functionality over long periods of time. When organoids made from a mixture of hepatoblast-like cells, mesenchymal cells, and vascular endothelial cells made from hiPSCs are transplanted into the mouse brain, a vascular network with blood perfusion is generated. However, *ex vivo* organoids with perfusable vasculature remain to be



**Fig. 8. Creating liver organoid models of various hepatic diseases.** (A) Human induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSCs) have been used to generate intrahepatic cholangiocyte and hepatocyte organoids (both are cysts) and multicellular liver organoids containing hepatocytes, Kupffer cells, HSCs, and LSECs. Cholangiocyte cysts and multicellular liver organoid disease models reflecting patients' genetic background. hiPSC-hepatocyte organoids can be used in drug screening, even though they lack bile canalicular network. hiPSC-hepatobiliary organoids have bile canaliculi formed by hepatocytes (which connect to the lumen of cholangiocyte cysts). However, extrahepatic cholangiocyte organoids have not been generated from hiPSCs. Created with BioRender.com. (B) Hepatobiliary organoid recapitulating *in vivo*-like hepatobiliary connection and including Kupffer cells and HSCs are yet to be established from hiPSCs. Cholestasis caused by hepatocyte injuries may affect proliferative capacity of cholangiocytes in multicellular hepatobiliary organoids. Kupffer cells may sense hepatocyte damage and produce secretory factors including inflammatory cytokines, which activates HSCs.

established. Thereby, even if they have potential to connect via vasculature with the host system, it is difficult to control vascularization within the organoid after transplantation.

Organoids associated with perfusion systems have been developed using various types of culture devices. Ya et al. developed a hexagonal shaped lifelike bionic liver lobule chip (LLC). In the LLC, culture medium enters via the "PV" and "HA (hepatic artery)' channels, which then flows through the vascular network-called "a perfusable liver sinusoidal network" by the authors—and leaves via the "CV (central vein)" channel. Hepatocytes are lined along vasculature-like structures [122]. Further, the "liver-on-chip" system-in which hepatocyte spheroid is placed in a v-bottom microwell and medium flows above the spheroid-improves hepatic function [123]. Furthermore, a microfluid device with a large vessel-like structure with hepatocyte spheroids placed on both sides and medium perfused over them also exists. In this system, medium perfusion can increase hepatic functions [124]. However, in the above microfluid device systems, the culture medium flows around spheroids and not inside them. To circumvent this limitation, HepG2 was plated on a permeable membrane and the medium could flow through the cell layer. Such systems enhance and maintain HepG2 hepatic functions [125]. Further, a micropattern plate was used to generate a "vascular bed" (between two main vessels by sprouting) on which a human hepatocyte spheroid was cultured. Endothelial luminal structures were observed inside the spheroid, and electron-microscopy data showed the "space of Disse-like" structure between hepatocytes and endothelial cells. In addition. FITC-Dextran flowed between two main channels via vasculatures incorporated in the spheroid. However, it was not clear whether vasculature inside the hepatocyte organoid is perfusable [126]. Clément Quintard C et al. generated a large vasculature system using HUVEC connected to mesenchymal organoids. Vasculature hierarchy comprising large blood vessels to small blood vessels was observed. Further, they clearly showed that microbeads flow through this vascular network. As demonstrated, in vascularized hiPSC-pancreatic islets, this approach may be applicable in generating perfusable liver organoids [127].

#### 3.4. Disease modeling with liver organoids

The most prominent feature of liver organoid is its ability to better mimic the structure and function of the liver tissue, compared to that by conventional 2D and spheroid cultures. Thus, hepatic diseases induced by morphological abnormalities can be modeled using liver organoids. In addition, given that absorption, secretion, and transport of substances metabolized in the liver are directional processes *in vivo*, the *in vivo*-like tissue structure of organoids is an appropriate feature applicable in drug screening and disease modeling.

Several groups have established cholangiocyte organoids using primary cholangiocytes and pluripotent stem cells, which have a "cystic" structure [128]These organoids are useful in understanding biliary diseases that induce abnormal expansion of biliary tubules. The Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Conductance Regulator (CFTR) gene encodes an ion channel responsible for chloride and water secretion. CFTR mutations cause cystic fibrosis (CF), affecting the airway and pancreas commonly, while the bile ducts are affected in about 10% of patients [129]. Functions of CFTR, coupled with anion exchanger 2 (AE2) and aquaporin, eventually affect bicarbonate ion and water transport in the liver. The CF phenotype manifests as the expansion of the apical lumen of tubular structures followed by extensive fibrosis. Verstegen et al. generated extrahepatic cholangiocyte organoids from cells derived from CF patients' biopsy samples [130] to model CF. However, Sampaziotis et al. and Ogawa et al. demonstrated that intrahepatic cholangiocyte organoids

derived from CF patients' iPSC ( $\Delta$ F508) could be applicable to evaluating the therapeutic potential of candidate drugs [112–114]; CF-iPSC-derived intrahepatic cholangiocyte organoids do not swell in response to forskolin (cAMP activator). The CFTR corrector VX809 corrects the misfolding of CFTR by acting as a chaperone. VX809 restores CFTR function in CF-iPSC-derived intrahepatic cholangiocyte organoids to levels similar to that in organoids derived from healthy hiPSCs [114]. Furthermore, the improvement of CFTR functionality in CF-iPSC-derived intrahepatic cholangiocyte organoids was achieved by combining CFTR correctors (VX809 or Corr-4a) with the CFTR potentiator VX770 (which enhances CFTR function) [113]. Thus, they suggested that these iPSC-derived intrahepatic cholangiocyte organoids could be a potential tool in drug development targeting intrahepatic cholangiopathy.

Structural and functional abnormalities in the biliary system (which comprises bile canaliculi, IHBD, EHBD, and GB) (Fig. 2A) lead to obstructed bile flow, and results in "cholestasis." Among many types of cholestatic liver injury, drug-induced liver injury (DILI)which is an adverse reaction to pharmaceutics intake-is a big issue for clinics and the pharmaceutical industry [131]. Most of the oral pharmaceutics are taken up by hepatocytes (via transporter proteins in sinusoids, including the organic cation transporter family) and then metabolized by cytochromes P450 (CYP) family (phase 1) enzymes. Subsequently, to increase metabolite solubility, these metabolites are conjugated with glucuronic or sulfonic acid by phase 2 enzymes. Eventually, these soluble drug metabolites are pumped out into the sinusoid or bile canaliculi via ATP-binding cassette family proteins. Therefore, drugs and/or their metabolites with high cytotoxicity or ability to inhibit bile acid transporters damage hepatocytes.

During drug development, DILI injury is assessed in hepatocyte culture. Considering interspecies differences and highly variable susceptibility among individuals, a high throughput assay system for DILI is desirable for evaluating drug toxicity. Further, organoids with appropriately expressed hepatocyte polarity and bile canaliculi structure, are necessary to predict DILI. Shinozawa et al. developed the liver organoid-based toxicity screen (LoT) [132]. The high throughput LoT assay platform (consisting of 384 plates) uses live-imaging techniques to monitor cell viability, bile acid uptake, and bile excretion into a central lumen surrounded by hepatocytes. They confirmed that drugs known to induce DILI cause cholestasis in liver organoids by inhibiting bile salt export pump (BSEP, ABCB11) activity. Genotype-specific susceptibility to drugs can be studied by generating liver organoids generated from hiPSCs derived from multiple donors and using LoT assay system. Thus, this type of liver organoid enables creation of high throughput drug screening systems, even though hepatocyte polarity is different from that in liver tissue.

The LoT assay may be useful in large scale screening of drugs for their cholestasis inducing ability. Moreover, given that hepatocytes secrete bile into bile canaliculi, which is then transported to the bile duct, a liver organoid comprising *in vivo* tissue structures is suitable to assess cholestatic injury *in vitro*. Ramli et al. generated hepatobiliary organoids—comprised hepatocyte spheroids connected to cholangiocyte cystic structures—from hiPSC and treated them with troglitazone (a BSEP inhibitor) [120]. Bile accumulated in the hepatobiliary organoid. Genetic cholestatic diseases such as progressive familial intrahepatic cholestasis may be studied using *in vitro* pathological liver organoid models generated from patient iPSC or genome-edited hiPSC.

Hepatocytes are the main cell type affected in liver injury. However, various "non-parenchymal cells (NPCs)" are involved in the pathogenesis of acute and chronic liver injury. Therefore, when generating liver organoid models of chronic liver injury, NPCs (such as hepatic stellate cells (HSCs), Kupffer cells (KCs) and LSECs) must be incorporated into the organoid. HSCs are fibroblasts that show myofibroblast features in injured liver and produce fibrous collagen while KCs are liver resident macrophages. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is a major widespread chronic liver disease [133] Continuous progression of NAFLD leads to non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH), cirrhosis, culminating in hepatic carcinoma. Recently, new terms for steatosis liver disease-metabolic dysfunction-associated steatotic liver disease (MASLD) and metabolic dysfunction-associated steatohepatitis (MASH)-have been proposed [134]. Currently, the pathogenic mechanisms causing MAFLD are unclarified and treatment options are absent. There is an urgent need to understand MAFLD pathogenesis to develop new therapies. Several groups have reported hiPSCs derived multicellular organoids which recapitulates MAFLD progression. To recapitulate disease progression in vitro, Ouchi et al. generated multicellular liver organoids containing KCs and HSCs [135]. With fatty acid treatment, these organoids showed steatohepatitis phenotypes, including lipid accumulation, inflammation, and fibrosis [136]. They developed a genetically diverse population organoid panel (PoP) for screening MASH genetic factors by generating liver organoids from 24 donor iPSC lines in a single well. They performed en masse liver organoid genotyping of these 24 organoids. They found that presence of a glucokinase regulatory protein gene variant—(GCKR)-rs1260326:C > T single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) variant—implicated in MASH, increases de novo lipogenesis in the organoids. Thus, they highlighted that PoP panels facilitate genome-wide association study of MASH/MASLD. The PoP method is riddled with difficulties in obtaining reliable liver organoids using multiple donor iPSCs in a well. However, it is expected that this high throughput screening system will unravel mechanisms of human MASH and help in the discovery of novel MASH treatment targets.

In summary, organoids are emerging as powerful tools for studying congenital diseases and in drug screening. Currently, liver organoids and intrahepatic cholangiocyte organoids can be derived from hiPSCs in addition to primary human cells, enabling their application in disease modeling and drug screening. Such organoids also reflect the individual patient differences enabling personalized treatment. However, hiPSC-extrahepatic bile duct organoids have not been reported yet (Fig. 8). Generally, the hiPSC-organoid is generated by mimicking the developmental process. Given that biliary atresia (BA) is a neonatal cholangiopathy characterized by the obstruction of EHBD in the neonatal period, extrahepatic biliary organoids derived from a patient-derived hiPSC will enable understanding the pathogenesis of BA development and progression and help develop new diagnostic and treatment methods.

# 4. Conclusion

Liver organoid technologies enable us to generate ex vivo miniature physiologically functional liver tissues. In particular, human liver organoids can be generated using hiPSCs by recapitulating the in vivo developmental processes. However, creating in vivo-like multicellular human hepatic organoids with bile canalicular network, tubular bile ducts, and sinusoids in exact special orientation remains challenging. There are two approaches in generating (functionally and structurally) in vivo-like multicellular liver organoids: 1) The first approach is recapitulating organogenesis. This approach induces endodermal and mesodermal cells simultaneously and creates liver organoids comprising hepatocytes, HSC-like, and KC-like cells; and 2) The second approach involves coculture of spheroids derived from different origin. For instance, an organoid containing the liver, extrahepatic biliary bile duct, and pancreas was generated by coculturing hiPSC-anterior and posterior-endoderm spheroids [137,138]. However, these

approaches have not been able to control functional connections of neighboring epithelial tissues.

In this review we aim to bridge the gap in the current knowledge on hepatic development and the methods used for establishing liver organoid systems. At present, information from liver development studies allows us to directedly induce various hepatic cells, including hepatocytes, cholangiocytes, HSCs, LSECs, and KCs, *in vitro*. In contrast, we still rely on "self-organization" of cells and tissues when creating *in vivo*-like tissue structures, *in vitro*. In depth knowledge of molecules involved in liver organogenesis will identify factors essential for tissue morphogenesis. This knowledge will help us directedly induce (functionally and structurally) *in vivo*-like multicellular liver organoids, without solely depending on *in vitro* tissue self-organization.

#### Funding

This work was supported by the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology, Japan, Grants-in-Aid for Scientific Research (C) (20K05843), Scientific Research (B) (23H02967), and Exploratory Research (23K18572) for NT. This work was also supported by a Research Grant from the Orange Fund for the Commemoration of Hokkaido Hepatitis B Lawsuits, a Research Grant from Chugai Foundation for Innovative Drug Discovery Science, and the Japan Agency for Medical Research and Development (AMED) (JP20gm6210029h0001) for NT. This work was also supported by JST SPRING, Grant Number JPMJSP2108 for AO.

## Author contribution

A.O., A.K. and NT: wrote the manuscript; A.O. and N.T.: reviewed the manuscript.

# Declaration of Generative AI and AI-assisted technologies in the writing process

Statement: During the preparation of this work, the authors used Grammarly to improve readability and language. After using this tool/service, the authors reviewed and edited the content as needed and take full responsibility for the publication's content.

#### **Declaration of competing interest**

The authors declare no conflicts of interest in association with this study.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors thank Yoshiki Kuse for his comments on this review. We also thank Enago (www.enago.jp) for the English language review.

# References

- Marsee A, Roos FJM, Verstegen MMA, Organoid Consortium HPB, Gehart H, de Koning E, et al. Building consensus on definition and nomenclature of hepatic, pancreatic, and biliary organoids. Cell Stem Cell 2021;28:816–32.
- [2] Sato T, Vries RG, Snippert HJ, van de Wetering M, Barker N, Stange DE, et al. Single Lgr5 stem cells build crypt-villus structures *in vitro* without a mesenchymal niche. Nature 2009;459:262–5.
- [3] Eiraku M, Takata N, Ishibashi H, Kawada M, Sakakura E, Okuda S, et al. Selforganizing optic-cup morphogenesis in three-dimensional culture. Nature 2011;472:51–6.
- [4] Takebe T, Sekine K, Enomura M, Koike H, Kimura M, Ogaeri T, et al. Vascularized and functional human liver from an iPSC-derived organ bud transplant. Nature 2013;499:481–4.
- [5] Brugmann SA, Wells JM. Building additional complexity to *in vitro*-derived intestinal tissues. Stem Cell Res Ther 2013;4(Suppl 1):S1.

#### A. Okumura, K. Aoshima and N. Tanimizu

- [6] Holloway EM, Capeling MM, Spence JR. Biologically inspired approaches to enhance human organoid complexity. Development 2019;146.
- [7] Jung J, Zheng M, Goldfarb M, Zaret KS. Initiation of mammalian liver development from endoderm by fibroblast growth factors. Science 1999;284: 1998–2003.
- [8] Rossi JM, Dunn NR, Hogan BL, Zaret KS. Distinct mesodermal signals, including BMPs from the septum transversum mesenchyme, are required in combination for hepatogenesis from the endoderm. Genes Dev 2001;15: 1998–2009.
- [9] Deutsch G, Jung J, Zheng M, Lóra J, Zaret KS. A bipotential precursor population for pancreas and liver within the embryonic endoderm. Development 2001;128:871–81.
- [10] Saito Y, Kojima T, Takahashi N. The septum transversum mesenchyme induces gall bladder development. Biol Open 2013;2:779–88.
- [11] Palaria A, Angelo JR, Guertin TM, Mager J, Tremblay KD. Patterning of the hepato-pancreatobiliary boundary by BMP reveals heterogeneity within the murine liver bud. Hepatology 2018;68:274–88.
- [12] Ober EA, Verkade H, Field HA, Stainier DY. Mesodermal Wnt2b signalling positively regulates liver specification. Nature 2006;442:688–91.
- [13] Negishi T, Nagai Y, Asaoka Y, Ohno M, Namae M, Mitani H, et al. Retinoic acid signaling positively regulates liver specification by inducing wnt2bb gene expression in medaka. Hepatology 2010;51:1037–45.
- [14] Bort R, Signore M, Tremblay K, Martinez Barbera JP, Zaret KS. Hex homeobox gene controls the transition of the endoderm to a pseudostratified, cell emergent epithelium for liver bud development. Dev Biol 2006;290:44–56.
- [15] Onitsuka I, Tanaka M, Miyajima A. Characterization and functional analyses of hepatic mesothelial cells in mouse liver development. Gastroenterology 2010;138:1525–6.
- [16] Berg T, Rountree CB, Lee L, Estrada J, Sala FG, Choe A, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 10 is critical for liver growth during embryogenesis and controls hepatoblast survival via beta-catenin activation. Hepatology 2007;46: 1187–97.
- [17] Lorenz L, Axnick J, Buschmann T, Henning C, Urner S, Fang S, et al. Mechanosensing by  $\beta 1$  integrin induces angiocrine signals for liver growth and survival. Nature 2018;562:128–32.
- [18] Roskams T, Desmet V. Embryology of extra- and intrahepatic bile ducts, the ductal plate. Anat Rec (Hoboken) 2008;291:628–35.
- [19] Spence JR, Lange AW, Lin SJ, Kaestner KH, Lowy AM, Kim I, et al. Sox17 regulates organ lineage segregation of ventral foregut progenitor cells. Dev Cell 2009;17:62–74.
- [20] Higashiyama H, Ozawa A, Sumitomo H, Uemura M, Fujino K, Igarashi H, et al. Embryonic cholecystitis and defective gallbladder contraction in the. Development 2017;144:1906–17.
- [21] Uemura M, Higashi M, Pattarapanawan M, Takami S, Ichikawa N, Higashiyama H, et al. Gallbladder wall abnormality in biliary atresia of mouse. Dis Model Mech 2020;13.
- [22] Pattarapanawan M, Uemura M, Miyazaki N, Takami S, Tomiyasu H, Tsunekawa N, et al. Anatomical and histological characteristics of the hepatobiliary system in adult Sox17 heterozygote mice. Anat Rec (Hoboken) 2020;303:3096–107.
- [23] Sumazaki R, Shiojiri N, Isoyama S, Masu M, Keino-Masu K, Osawa M, et al. Conversion of biliary system to pancreatic tissue in Hes1-deficient mice. Nat Genet 2004;36:83–7.
- [24] Fukuda A, Kawaguchi Y, Furuyama K, Kodama S, Horiguchi M, Kuhara T, et al. Ectopic pancreas formation in Hes1 -knockout mice reveals plasticity of endodermal progenitors of the gut, bile duct, and pancreas. J Clin Invest 2006;116:1484–93.
- [25] Clotman F, Lannoy VJ, Reber M, Cereghini S, Cassiman D, Jacquemin P, et al. The onecut transcription factor HNF6 is required for normal development of the biliary tract. Development 2002;129:1819–28.
- [26] Coffinier C, Gresh L, Fiette L, Tronche F, Schütz G, Babinet C, et al. Bile system morphogenesis defects and liver dysfunction upon targeted deletion of HNF1beta. Development 2002;129:1829–38.
- [27] Thestrup MI, Caviglia S, Cayuso J, Heyne RLS, Ahmad R, Hofmeister W, et al. A morphogenetic EphB/EphrinB code controls hepatopancreatic duct formation. Nat Commun 2019;10:5220.
- [28] Wang Y, Lanzoni G, Carpino G, Cui CB, Dominguez-Bendala J, Wauthier E, et al. Biliary tree stem cells, precursors to pancreatic committed progenitors: evidence for possible life-long pancreatic organogenesis. Stem Cell 2013;31: 1966–79.
- [29] Sutton ME, op den Dries S, Koster MH, Lisman T, Gouw AS, Porte RJ. Regeneration of human extrahepatic biliary epithelium: the peribiliary glands as progenitor cell compartment. Liver Int 2012;32:554–9.
- [30] Hayata Y, Nakagawa H, Kurosaki S, Kawamura S, Matsushita Y, Hayakawa Y, et al. Axin2. Gastroenterology 2021;160:2133–2148.e6.
- [31] Singh S, Lian Q, Budiman T, Taketo MM, Simons BD, Gupta V. Heterogeneous murine peribiliary glands orchestrate compartmentalized epithelial renewal. Dev Cell 2023;58:2732–2745.e5.
- [32] Carpino G, Cardinale V, Onori P, Franchitto A, Berloco PB, Rossi M, et al. Biliary tree stem/progenitor cells in glands of extrahepatic and intraheptic bile ducts: an anatomical in situ study yielding evidence of maturational lineages. J Anat 2012;220:186–99.
- [33] Hunter MP, Wilson CM, Jiang X, Cong R, Vasavada H, Kaestner KH, et al. The homeobox gene Hhex is essential for proper hepatoblast differentiation and bile duct morphogenesis. Dev Biol 2007;308:355–67.

- [34] Igarashi S, Matsubara T, Harada K, Ikeda H, Sato Y, Sasaki M, et al. Bile duct expression of pancreatic and duodenal homeobox 1 in perihilar cholangiocarcinogenesis. Histopathology 2012;61:266–76.
- [35] Fukuda A, Kawaguchi Y, Furuyama K, Kodama S, Kuhara T, Horiguchi M, et al. Loss of the major duodenal papilla results in brown pigment biliary stone formation in pdx1 null mice. Gastroenterology 2006;130:855–67.
- [36] Yamashita R, Takegawa Y, Sakumoto M, Nakahara M, Kawazu H, Hoshii T, et al. Defective development of the gall bladder and cystic duct in Lgr4hypomorphic mice. Dev Dynam 2009;238:993–1000.
- [37] Escot S, Willnow D, Naumann H, Di Francescantonio S, Spagnoli FM. Robo signalling controls pancreatic progenitor identity by regulating Tead transcription factors. Nat Commun 2018;9:5082.
- [38] Ma Z, Zhang X, Zhong W, Yi H, Chen X, Zhao Y, et al. Deciphering early human pancreas development at the single-cell level. Nat Commun 2023;14: 1–17.
- [39] Taoudi S, Gonneau C, Moore K, Sheridan JM, Blackburn CC, Taylor E, et al. Extensive hematopoietic stem cell generation in the AGM region via maturation of VE-cadherin+CD45+ pre-definitive HSCs. Cell Stem Cell 2008;3: 99–108.
- [40] McGrath KE, Frame JM, Fegan KH, Bowen JR, Conway SJ, Catherman SC, et al. Distinct sources of hematopoietic progenitors emerge before HSCs and provide functional blood cells in the mammalian embryo. Cell Rep 2015;11: 1892–904.
- [41] Lemaigre FP. Development of the biliary tract. Mech Dev 2003;120:81-7.
- [42] Gao X, Xu C, Asada N, Frenette PS. The hematopoietic stem cell niche: from embryo to adult. Development 2018;145.
- [43] Cohen D, Tian Y, Müsch A. Par1b promotes hepatic-type lumen polarity in Madin Darby canine kidney cells via myosin II- and E-cadherin-dependent signaling. Mol Biol Cell 2007;18:2203–15.
- [44] Fu D, Wakabayashi Y, Lippincott-Schwartz J, Arias IM. Bile acid stimulates hepatocyte polarization through a cAMP-Epac-MEK-LKB1-AMPK pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2011;108:1403–8.
- [45] Slim CL, Lázaro-Diéguez F, Bijlard M, Toussaint MJ, de Bruin A, Du Q, et al. Par1b induces asymmetric inheritance of plasma membrane domains via LGN-dependent mitotic spindle orientation in proliferating hepatocytes. PLoS Biol 2013;11:e1001739.
- [46] Tanimizu N, Mitaka T. Epithelial morphogenesis during liver development. Cold Spring Harbor Perspect Biol 2017;9.
- [47] Yang L, Wang W, Qiu W, Guo Z, Bi E, Xu C. A single-cell transcriptomic analysis reveals precise pathways and regulatory mechanisms underlying hepatoblast differentiation. Hepatology 2017;66:1387–401.
- [48] Belicova L, Repnik U, Delpierre J, Gralinska E, Seifert S, Valenzuela JI, et al. Anisotropic expansion of hepatocyte lumina enforced by apical bulkheads. J Cell Biol 2021;220.
- [49] Bebelman MP, Bovyn MJ, Mayer CM, Delpierre J, Naumann R, Martins NP, et al. Hepatocyte apical bulkheads provide a mechanical means to oppose bile pressure. J Cell Biol 2023;222.
- [50] Crawford JM. Development of the intrahepatic biliary tree. Semin Liver Dis 2002;22:213–26.
- [51] Sparks EE, Huppert KA, Brown MA, Washington MK, Huppert SS. Notch signaling regulates formation of the three-dimensional architecture of intrahepatic bile ducts in mice. Hepatology 2010;51:1391–400.
- [52] Kaneko K, Kamimoto K, Miyajima A, Itoh T. Adaptive remodeling of the biliary architecture underlies liver homeostasis. Hepatology 2015;61: 2056–66.
- [53] Tanimizu N, Kaneko K, Itoh T, Ichinohe N, Ishii M, Mizuguchi T, et al. Intrahepatic bile ducts are developed through formation of homogeneous continuous luminal network and its dynamic rearrangement in mice. Hepatology 2016;64:175–88.
- [54] Antoniou A, Raynaud P, Cordi S, Zong Y, Tronche F, Stanger BZ, et al. Intrahepatic bile ducts develop according to a new mode of tubulogenesis regulated by the transcription factor SOX9. Gastroenterology 2009;136: 2325–33.
- [55] Gilbert MA, Bauer RC, Rajagopalan R, Grochowski CM, Chao G, McEldrew D, et al. Alagille syndrome mutation update: comprehensive overview of JAG1 and NOTCH2 mutation frequencies and insight into missense variant classification. Hum Mutat 2019;40:2197–220.
- [56] Falix FA, Weeda VB, Labruyere WT, Poncy A, de Waart DR, Hakvoort TBM, et al. Hepatic Notch2 deficiency leads to bile duct agenesis perinatally and secondary bile duct formation after weaning. Dev Biol 2014;396:201–13.
- [57] Hofmann JJ, Zovein AC, Koh H, Radtke F, Weinmaster G, Iruela-Arispe ML. Jagged1 in the portal vein mesenchyme regulates intrahepatic bile duct development: insights into Alagille syndrome. Development 2010;137: 4061–72.
- [58] Andersson ER, Chivukula IV, Hankeova S, Sjöqvist M, Tsoi YL, Ramsköld D, et al. Mouse model of Alagille syndrome and mechanisms of Jagged1 missense mutations. Gastroenterology 2018;154:1080–95.
- [59] Manderfield LJ, Aghajanian H, Engleka KA, Lim LY, Liu F, Jain R, et al. Hippo signaling is required for Notch-dependent smooth muscle differentiation of neural crest. Development 2015;142:2962–71.
- [60] Yimlamai D, Christodoulou C, Galli GG, Yanger K, Pepe-Mooney B, Gurung B, et al. Hippo pathway activity influences liver cell fate. Cell 2014;157: 1324–38.
- [61] Pepe-Mooney B, Dill MT, Alemany A, Ordovas-Montanes J, Matsushita Y, Rao A, et al. Single-cell analysis of the liver epithelium reveals dynamic

heterogeneity and an essential role for YAP in homeostasis and regeneration. Cell Stem Cell 2019;25:23–38.e8.

- [62] Mamidi A, Prawiro C, Seymour PA, de Lichtenberg KH, Jackson A, Serup P, et al. Mechanosignalling via integrins directs fate decisions of pancreatic progenitors. Nature 2018;564:114–8.
- [63] Ekblom M, Falk M, Salmivirta K, Durbeej M, Ekblom P. Laminin isoforms and epithelial development. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1998;857:194–211.
- [64] Tanimizu N, Kikkawa Y, Mitaka T, Miyajima A. α1- and α5-containing laminins regulate the development of bile ducts via β1 integrin signals. J Biol Chem 2012;287:28586–97.
- [65] Clotman F, Jacquemin P, Plumb-Rudewiez N, Pierreux CE, Van der Smissen P, Dietz HC, et al. Control of liver cell fate decision by a gradient of TGF beta signaling modulated by Onecut transcription factors. Genes Dev 2005;19: 1849–54.
- [66] Seth A, Ye J, Yu N, Guez F, Bedford DC, Neale GA, et al. Prox1 ablation in hepatic progenitors causes defective hepatocyte specification and increases biliary cell commitment. Development 2014;141:538–47.
- [67] Yamasaki H, Sada A, Iwata T, Niwa T, Tomizawa M, Xanthopoulos KG, et al. Suppression of C/EBPalpha expression in periportal hepatoblasts may stimulate biliary cell differentiation through increased Hnf6 and Hnf1b expression. Development 2006;133:4233–43.
- [68] Verdeguer F, Le Corre S, Fischer E, Callens C, Garbay S, Doyen A, et al. A mitotic transcriptional switch in polycystic kidney disease. Nat Med 2010;16:106–10.
- [69] Senga K, Mostov KE, Mitaka T, Miyajima A, Tanimizu N. Grainyhead-like 2 regulates epithelial morphogenesis by establishing functional tight junctions through the organization of a molecular network among claudin3, claudin4, and Rab25. Mol Biol Cell 2012;23:2845–55.
- [70] Flasse L, Yennek S, Cortijo C, Barandiaran IS, Kraus MR, Grapin-Botton A. Apical restriction of the planar cell polarity component VANGL in pancreatic ducts is required to maintain epithelial integrity. Cell Rep 2020;31:107677.
- [71] Raab M, Christodoulou E, Krishnankutty R, Gradinaru A, Walker AD, Olaizola P, et al. Van Gogh-like 2 is essential for the architectural patterning of the mammalian biliary tree. J Hepatol 2024. In press.
- [72] Tanimizu N, Nakamura Y, Ichinohe N, Mizuguchi T, Hirata K, Mitaka T. Hepatic biliary epithelial cells acquire epithelial integrity but lose plasticity to differentiate into hepatocytes *in vitro* during development. J Cell Sci 2013;126:5239–46.
- [73] Li W, Yang L, He Q, Hu C, Zhu L, Ma X, et al. A homeostatic arid1a-dependent permissive chromatin state licenses hepatocyte responsiveness to liverinjury-associated YAP signaling. Cell Stem Cell 2019;25:54–68.e5.
- [74] Wang X, Yang L, Wang YC, Xu ZR, Feng Y, Zhang J, et al. Comparative analysis of cell lineage differentiation during hepatogenesis in humans and mice at the single-cell transcriptome level. Cell Res 2020;30:1109–26.
- [75] Yang L, Wang X, Yu XX, Zhou BC, Yang J, Xu CR. The default and directed pathways of hepatoblast differentiation involve distinct epigenomic mechanisms. Dev Cell 2023;58:1688–1700.e6.
- [76] Tan CE, Moscoso GJ. The developing human biliary system at the porta hepatis level between 11 and 25 weeks of gestation: a way to understanding biliary atresia. Part 2. Pathol Int 1994;44:600–10.
- [77] Jeong J, Tanaka M, Iwakiri Y. Hepatic lymphatic vascular system in health and disease. J Hepatol 2022;77:206–18.
- [78] Hikspoors JPJM, Peeters MMJP, Mekonen HK, Kruepunga N, Mommen GMC, Cornillie P, et al. The fate of the vitelline and umbilical veins during the development of the human liver. J Anat 2017;231:718–35.
- [79] Mu T, Xu L, Zhong Y, Liu X, Zhao Z, Huang C, et al. Embryonic liver developmental trajectory revealed by single-cell RNA sequencing in the Foxa2. Commun Biol 2020;3:642.
- [80] Swartley OM, Foley JF, Livingston DP3, Cullen JM, Elmore SA. Histology atlas of the developing mouse hepatobiliary hemolymphatic vascular system with emphasis on embryonic days 11.5-18.5 and early postnatal development. Toxicol Pathol 2016;44:705–25.
- [81] Zhang H, Pu W, Tian X, Huang X, He L, Liu Q, et al. Genetic lineage tracing identifies endocardial origin of liver vasculature. Nat Genet 2016;48: 537–43.
- [82] Géraud C, Koch PS, Zierow J, Klapproth K, Busch K, Olsavszky V, et al. GATA4dependent organ-specific endothelial differentiation controls liver development and embryonic hematopoiesis. J Clin Invest 2017;127:1099–114.
- [83] Desroches-Castan A, Tillet E, Ricard N, Ouarné M, Mallet C, Belmudes L, et al. Bone morphogenetic protein 9 is a paracrine factor controlling liver sinusoidal endothelial cell fenestration and protecting against hepatic fibrosis. Hepatology 2019;70:1392–408.
- [84] Kulikauskas MR, Oatley M, Yu T, Liu Z, Matsumura L, Kidder E, et al. Endothelial cell SMAD6 balances Alk1 function to regulate adherens junctions and hepatic vascular development. Development 2023;150.
- [85] Gómez-Salinero JM, Izzo F, Lin Y, Houghton S, Itkin T, Geng F, et al. Specification of fetal liver endothelial progenitors to functional zonated adult sinusoids requires c-Maf induction. Cell Stem Cell 2022;29:593–609.e7.
- [86] Zuo B, Yang F, Huang L, Han J, Li T, Ma Z, et al. Endothelial Slc35a1 deficiency causes loss of LSEC identity and exacerbates neonatal lipid deposition in the liver in mice. Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol 2024;17:1039–61.
- [87] Walter TJ, Cast AE, Huppert KA, Huppert SS. Epithelial VEGF signaling is required in the mouse liver for proper sinusoid endothelial cell identity and hepatocyte zonation *in vivo*. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2014;306:849.

- [88] Yang L, Wang X, Zheng JX, Xu ZR, Li LC, Xiong YL, et al. Determination of key events in mouse hepatocyte maturation at the single-cell level. Dev Cell 2023;58:1996–2010.e6.
- [89] Xu J, Hao S, Shi Q, Deng Q, Jiang Y, Guo P, et al. Transcriptomic profile of the mouse postnatal liver development by single-nucleus RNA sequencing. Front Cell Dev Biol 2022;10:833392.
- [90] Gong T, Zhang C, Ni X, Li X, Li J, Liu M, et al. A time-resolved multi-omic atlas of the developing mouse liver. Genome Res 2020;30:263–75.
- [91] Ma R, Martínez-Ramírez AS, Borders TL, Gao F, Sosa-Pineda B. Metabolic and non-metabolic liver zonation is established non-synchronously and requires sinusoidal Wnts. Elife 2020;9.
- [92] Zhu S, Rao X, Qian Y, Chen J, Song R, Yan H, et al. Liver endothelial Heg regulates vascular/biliary network patterning and metabolic zonation via wnt signaling. Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022;13:1757–83.
- [93] Duan JL, Zhou ZY, Ruan B, Fang ZQ, Ding J, Liu JJ, et al. Noth-regulated c-kitpositive liver sinusoidal endothelial cells contribute to liver zonation and regeneration. Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022;13:1741–56.
- [94] Zhang XJ, Olsavszky V, Yin Y, Wang B, Engleitner T, Öllinger R, et al. Angiocrine hepatocyte growth factor signaling controls physiological organ and body size and dynamic hepatocyte proliferation to prevent liver damage during regeneration. Am J Pathol 2020;190:358–71.
  [95] Apte U, Zeng G, Muller P, Tan X, Micsenyi A, Cieply B, et al. Activation of Wnt/
- [95] Apte U, Zeng G, Muller P, Tan X, Micsenyi A, Cieply B, et al. Activation of Wnt/ beta-catenin pathway during hepatocyte growth factor-induced hepatomegaly in mice. Hepatology 2006;44:992–1002.
- [96] Mitaka T, Sato F, Mizuguchi T, Yokono T, Mochizuki Y. Reconstruction of hepatic organoid by rat small hepatocytes and hepatic nonparenchymal cells. Hepatology 1999;29:111–25.
- [97] Spence JR, Mayhew CN, Rankin SA, Kuhar MF, Vallance JE, Tolle K, et al. Directed differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells into intestinal tissue *in vitro*. Nature 2011;470:105–9.
- [98] Tanimizu N, Miyajima A, Mostov KE. Liver progenitor cells develop cholangiocyte-type epithelial polarity in three-dimensional culture. Mol Biol Cell 2007;18:1472–9.
- [99] Huch M, Dorrell C, Boj SF, van Es JH, Li VSW, van de Wetering M, et al. In vitro expansion of single Lgr5+ liver stem cells induced by Wnt-driven regeneration. Nature 2013;494:247–50.
- [100] Katsuda T, Kawamata M, Hagiwara K, Takahashi R, Yamamoto Y, Camargo FD, et al. Conversion of terminally committed hepatocytes to culturable bipotent progenitor cells with regenerative capacity. Cell Stem Cell 2017;20:41–55.
- [101] Hu H, Gehart H, Artegiani B, LÖpez-Iglesias C, Dekkers F, Basak O, et al. Longterm expansion of functional mouse and human hepatocytes as 3D organoids. Cell 2018;175:1591–1606.e19.
- [102] Peng WC, Logan CY, Fish M, Anbarchian T, Aguisanda F, Álvarez-Varela A, et al. Inflammatory cytokine TNFα promotes the long-term expansion of primary hepatocytes in 3D culture. Cell 2018;175:1607–1619.e15.
- [103] Si-Tayeb K, Noto FK, Nagaoka M, Li J, Battle MA, Duris C, et al. Highly efficient generation of human hepatocyte-like cells from induced pluripotent stem cells. Hepatology 2010;51:297–305.
- [104] Matakovic L, Overeem AW, Klappe K, van IJzendoorn SCD. Induction of bile canaliculi-forming hepatocytes from human pluripotent stem cells. Methods Mol Biol 2022;2544:71–82.
- [105] Overeem AW, Klappe K, Parisi S, Klöters-Planchy P, Mataković L, du Teil Espina M, et al. Pluripotent stem cell-derived bile canaliculi-forming hepatocytes to study genetic liver diseases involving hepatocyte polarity. J Hepatol 2019;71:344–56.
- [106] Sampaziotis F, Muraro D, Tysoe OC, Sawiak S, Beach TE, Godfrey EM, et al. Cholangiocyte organoids can repair bile ducts after transplantation in the human liver. Science 2021;371:839–46.
- [107] Hashimoto W, Sudo R, Fukasawa K, Ikeda M, Mitaka T, Tanishita K. Ductular network formation by rat biliary epithelial cells in the dynamical culture with collagen gel and dimethylsulfoxide stimulation. Am J Pathol 2008;173: 494–506.
- [108] Tanimizu N, Miyajima A, Mostov KE. Liver progenitor cells fold up a cell monolayer into a double-layered structure during tubular morphogenesis. Mol Biol Cell 2009;20:2486–94.
- [109] Roos FJM, van Tienderen GS, Wu H, Bordeu I, Vinke D, Albarinos LM, et al. Human branching cholangiocyte organoids recapitulate functional bile duct formation. Cell Stem Cell 2022;29:776–794.e13.
- [110] Beckstead BL, Santosa DM, Giachelli CM. Mimicking cell-cell interactions at the biomaterial-cell interface for control of stem cell differentiation. J Biomed Mater Res A 2006;79:94–103.
- [111] Manokawinchoke J, Nattasit P, Thongngam T, Pavasant P, Tompkins KA, Egusa H, et al. Indirect immobilized Jagged1 suppresses cell cycle progression and induces odonto/osteogenic differentiation in human dental pulp cells. Sci Rep 2017;7:10124.
- [112] Ogawa M, Ogawa S, Bear CE, Ahmadi S, Chin S, Li B, et al. Directed differentiation of cholangiocytes from human pluripotent stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 2015;33:853–61.
- [113] Ogawa M, Jiang J, Xia S, Yang D, Ding A, Laselva O, et al. Generation of functional ciliated cholangiocytes from human pluripotent stem cells. Nat Commun 2021;12:6504.
- [114] Sampaziotis F, de Brito MC, Madrigal P, Bertero A, Saeb-Parsy K, Soares FAC, et al. Cholangiocytes derived from human induced pluripotent stem cells for disease modeling and drug validation. Nat Biotechnol 2015;33:845–52.

- [115] Sampaziotis F, de Brito MC, Geti I, Bertero A, Hannan NR, Vallier L. Directed differentiation of human induced pluripotent stem cells into functional cholangiocyte-like cells. Nat Protoc 2017;12:814–27.
- [116] Rizwan M, Fokina A, Kivijärvi T, Ogawa M, Kufleitner M, Laselva O, et al. Photochemically activated Notch signaling hydrogel preferentially differentiates human derived hepatoblasts to cholangiocytes. Adv Funct Mater 2021;31:2006116.
- [117] Tanimizu N, Kobayashi S, Ichinohe N, Mitaka T. Downregulation of miR122 by grainyhead-like 2 restricts the hepatocytic differentiation potential of adult liver progenitor cells. Development 2014;141: 4448–56.
- [118] Vyas D, Baptista PM, Brovold M, Moran E, Gaston B, Booth C, et al. Selfassembled liver organoids recapitulate hepatobiliary organogenesis in vitro. Hepatology 2018;67:750–61.
- [119] Wu F, Wu D, Ren Y, Huang Y, Feng B, Zhao N, et al. Generation of hepatobiliary organoids from human induced pluripotent stem cells. J Hepatol 2019;70:1145–58.
- [120] Ramli MNB, Lim YS, Koe CT, Demircioglu D, Tng W, Gonzales KAU, et al. Human pluripotent stem cell-derived organoids as models of liver disease. Gastroenterology 2020;159:1471–1486.e12.
- [121] Tanimizu N, Ichinohe N, Sasaki Y, Itoh T, Sudo R, Yamaguchi T, et al. Generation of functional liver organoids on combining hepatocytes and cholangiocytes with hepatobiliary connections *ex vivo*. Nat Commun 2021;12: 3390–1.
- [122] Ya S, Ding W, Li S, Du K, Zhang Y, Li C, et al. On-chip construction of liver lobules with self-assembled perfusable hepatic sinusoid networks. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2021;13:32640–52.
- [123] Ma LD, Wang YT, Wang JR, Wu JL, Meng XS, Hu P, et al. Design and fabrication of a liver-on-a-chip platform for convenient, highly efficient, and safe in situ perfusion culture of 3D hepatic spheroids. Lab Chip 2018;18: 2547–62.
- [124] Ferrari E, Monti E, Cerutti C, Visone R, Occhetta P, Griffith LG, et al. A method to generate perfusable physiologic-like vascular channels within a liver-onchip model. Biomicrofluidics 2023;17:064103.
- [125] Sugiura S, Satoh T, Shin K, Onuki-Nagasaki R, Kanamori T. Perfusion culture of multi-layered HepG2 hepatocellular carcinoma cells in a pressure-driven microphysiological system. J Biosci Bioeng 2022;134: 348–55.

- [126] Bonanini F, Kurek D, Previdi S, Nicolas A, Hendriks D, de Ruiter S, et al. *In vitro* grafting of hepatic spheroids and organoids on a microfluidic vascular bed. Angiogenesis 2022;25:455–70.
- [127] Quintard C, Tubbs E, Jonsson G, Jiao J, Wang J, Werschler N, et al. A microfluidic platform integrating functional vascularized organoids-onchip. Nat Commun 2024;15:1452–4.
- [128] Liu Y, Sheng JY, Yang CF, Ding J, Chan YS. A decade of liver organoids: advances in disease modeling. Clin Mol Hepatol 2023;29:643–69.
- [129] Eldredge JA, Oliver MR, Ooi CY. Cystic fibrosis liver disease in the new era of cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) modulators. Paediatr Respir Rev 2023;50:54–61.
- [130] Verstegen MMA, Roos FJM, Burka K, Gehart H, Jager M, de Wolf M, et al. Human extrahepatic and intrahepatic cholangiocyte organoids show regionspecific differentiation potential and model cystic fibrosis-related bile duct disease. Sci Rep 2020;10:21900.
- [131] Andrade RJ, Chalasani N, Björnsson ES, Suzuki A, Kullak-Ublick G, Watkins PB, et al. Drug-induced liver injury. Nat Rev Dis Prim 2019;5:58.
- [132] Shinozawa T, Kimura M, Cai Y, Saiki N, Yoneyama Y, Ouchi R, et al. High-fidelity drug-induced liver injury screen using human pluripotent stem cell-derived organoids. Gastroenterology 2021;160:831–846.e10.
- [133] Younossi ZM, Koenig AB, Abdelatif D, Fazel Y, Henry L, Wymer M. Global epidemiology of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease-Meta-analytic assessment of prevalence, incidence, and outcomes. Hepatology 2016;64:73–84.
- [134] Wang S, Friedman SL. Found in translation-Fibrosis in metabolic dysfunction-associated steatohepatitis (MASH). Sci Transl Med 2023;15: eadi0759.
- [135] Ouchi R, Togo S, Kimura M, Shinozawa T, Koido M, Koike H, et al. Modeling steatohepatitis in humans with pluripotent stem cell-derived organoids. Cell Metabol 2019;30:374–384.e6.
- [136] Kimura M, Iguchi T, Iwasawa K, Dunn A, Thompson WL, Yoneyama Y, et al. En masse organoid phenotyping informs metabolic-associated genetic susceptibility to NASH. Cell 2022;185:4216–4232.e16.
- [137] Koike H, Iwasawa K, Ouchi R, Maezawa M, Giesbrecht K, Saiki N, et al. Modelling human hepato-biliary-pancreatic organogenesis from the foregutmidgut boundary. Nature 2019;574:112–6.
- [138] Koike H, Iwasawa K, Ouchi R, Maezawa M, Kimura M, Kodaka A, et al. Engineering human hepato-biliary-pancreatic organoids from pluripotent stem cells. Nat Protoc 2021;16:919–36.